ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

OCT 30 2014

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

S.C. Supreme Court

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

NOEL MICHAEL LYLES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000474

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Although the PCR court found trial counsel's performance was deficient in failing to conduct an adequate investigation, the PCR court erred in finding this inadequate performance, which did not meet the minimum required standard of reasonableness, was not prejudicial which was error because Petitioner Lyles was facing LWOP and because this inadequate performance allowed the additional counsel, who was appointed on the first day of trial to assist, only two days to prepare for this LWOP trial?

STATEMENT

On May 7, 2009, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Noel M. Lyles on the charges of armed robbery (AR), kidnapping, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and grand larceny. On November 9, 2009, Lyles proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. Lyles was represented initially by J. Roger Poole. At the request of Petitioner Lyles, on the first day of trial, Judge Cole appointed Attorney Kathleen J. Hodges to represent Lyles in conjunction with Attorney Poole. App. 25, ll. 1 – 13. The state was represented by Harold W. Gowdy and Barry Joe Barnette. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the kidnapping and guilty on the AR, ABHAN, and grand larceny. Judge Cole sentenced Lyles to the mandatory sentence of life without parole (LWOP). The state had served notice that they would be seeking LWOP based on Lyles' prior conviction of burglary first degree when he entered a guilty plea on June 11, 1998. App. 335, ll. 7 – App. 336, ll. 25.

Lyles' attorney filed a notice of appeal which was perfected by the Office of Appellate Defense with the filing of an Anders brief. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Lyles' appeal. State v. Lyles, Op. No. 2012-UP-190 (Ct. App. filed March 14, 2012).

On May 8, 2012, Lyles filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on September 11, 2012. An evidentiary hearing was held on April 5, 2013 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Lyles was represented by Paul C. MacPhail, and the state was represented by Suzanne H. White. App. 359. On January 6, 2014, Judge McIntosh issued an order denying Lyles' PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 474- App. 488. Lyles filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Although the PCR court found trial counsel's performance was deficient in failing to conduct an adequate investigation, the PCR court erred in finding this inadequate performance, which did not meet the minimum required standard of reasonableness, was not prejudicial which was error because Petitioner Lyles was facing LWOP and because this inadequate performance allowed the additional counsel, who was appointed on the first day of trial to assist, only two days to prepare for this LWOP trial.

Noel Lyles was charged with crimes involving two incidents that occurred on the same day of March 7, 2009. Around noon that day, a young woman was at the do- it- yourself car wash in Lyman with her elderly mother. Lyles was allegedly walking around the car wash talking with this young woman and others. Then Lyles allegedly got into the young woman's Toyota Tacoma burgundy truck and drove away. App. 126, ll. 24 – App. 127, ll. 25.

About six o'clock that same evening, a woman was going for her nightly walk in the Campobello area on the roadside. A burgundy Toyota Tacoma passed her. Then the truck came back and stopped and asked for directions. Then Lyles allegedly got out of the truck with a glass bottle of beer and told the woman to give him all of her "stuff." He hit her and knocked her down. She had only her IPOD and rings. She said no and then he hit her with the beer bottle. She gave him all she had. The man then drove away. App. 128, ll. 1 – App. 129, ll. 20.

About ten o'clock that same evening, two police officers were on the lookout for the burgundy truck after a BOLO was issued. They stopped the vehicle and Lyles exited the truck. In the truck, the officers found the IPOD and rings that belonged to the second woman on the roadside. Both women identified Lyles as their perpetrator. Lyles was arrested and charged. App. 129, ll. 21 – App. 130, ll. 25.

On the first day of his trial, November 9, 2009, Lyles' trial attorney told the court that he met with Lyles on the Friday before trial for the first time, and gave Lyles the discovery. Lyles had been served with notice of LWOP by the state based on his prior record. Trial attorney relayed that Lyles wanted a different attorney to represent him on these charges. Lyles' concern was the lack of time he had spent with this trial attorney Poole. App. 10, ll. 1 – App. 11, ll. 4.

Lyles then told the trial court that he had been in the Department of Corrections (DOC) since his arrest in March 2009. He was serving time on a probation violation. He had just received the indictments for these charges on the Friday before trial. He had not had time to prepare a defense after seeing the discovery. Lyles asked for a continuance to obtain another attorney. Lyles did not know that the solicitor had upgraded the charges on grand larceny; the strong armed robbery to AR; and the kidnapping charge. He did not know the evidence against him until he just received the discovery. App. 11, ll. 5 – App. 12, ll. 14.

Trial attorney Poole received discovery on an ongoing basis during the time since Lyles' arrest. The judge asked Attorney Poole if had had conducted his own independent investigation into the facts and evidence. Attorney Poole replied that he had looked at the facts and evidence through the discovery. He had not taken any trips to the alleged sites because he thought he had enough information to "work this case." He did not see any witnesses to be called. App. 12, ll. 15 – App. 13, ll. 13.

Lyles explained that there were witnesses in the discovery that Lyles wanted to present. The judge took a recess and told Attorney Poole for him and Lyles to meet and discuss any witnesses. App. 13, ll. 14 – App. App. 14, ll. 25.

Lyles argued:

But like I told him just now, just giving me an indictment on Friday and then think you're going to rush me into trial on Monday, I am, I'm not, I'm not prepared for that. What I'm saying I'm letting that be known. I'm not mentally prepared for that right now.

App. 15, ll. 8 – 12.

After the recess, Attorney Poole told the court that Lyles did not want Attorney Poole to represent him, and he was not prepared to go forward. App. 16, ll. 2 – 25. Lyles said he would like for attorney Kathy Hodges to be his attorney. She also worked in the public defender's office. The trial judge and Lyles continued to argue about an attorney. Lyles was insistent that he was not going forward with Attorney Poole. App. 18, ll. 4 – App. 24, ll. 10.

On Thursday, November 12, 2009, two days later, the trial resumed. The judge put on the record that attorney Hodges had consented to assist Lyles in his trial. The judge ruled that attorney Hodges would be representing Lyles along with attorney Poole. App. 25, ll. 1 – 13.

Attorney Hodges expressed her concerns to the court that she was just appointed on Monday and had met with Lyles. She would prefer more time to prepare but felt she was capable of going forward with the trial that day. When the judge asked her if there were anything she had been hampered in doing because of the amount of time she had to become familiar with Lyles' case, she responded:

The only thing that additional time would provide me was just to provide me with the ability to be more concrete in terms of my understanding of the facts of the case.

App27, ll. 3 - App. 28, ll. 4.

The jury found Lyles guilty of the AR, ABHAN, and grand larceny but found him not guilty of the kidnapping. He was sentenced to life in prison. App. 331, ll. 6 – App. 332, ll. 10; App. 334, ll. 16 – App. 339, ll. 16.

At his PCR hearing, Lyles testified that he did not know that he had an attorney from March until October when he received the notice of LWOP. He met with attorney Poole for the first time on the Friday before the trial started on Monday. Lyles never received a letter from attorney Poole nor a visit. Attorney Poole did not file a motion to change venue due to pretrial media coverage involving Lyles in another incident. App. 364, ll. 24 – App. 369, ll. 17.

One of the victims was the wife of a law enforcement officer in the county. Attorney Poole did not ask for a SLED investigation based on that fact that would have been more objective. Attorney Poole never made any contact with the solicitor to ask about a plea bargain, and never asked for a continuance for more time to prepare. App. 369, ll. 21 – App. 374, ll. 24.

Lyles desperately tried to have attorney Poole relieved as his counsel. App. 370, ll. 16 – App. 371, ll. 24. Lyles felt that he did not get a fair trial based on “multiple facts” relating to both of his attorneys. Attorney Poole did nothing on his case until two days before trial. Attorney Hodges told the judge that more time would help her be more firmly grounded in the facts of the case but she never asked for a continuance. Lyles did not know about the kidnapping charge until he received the indictments because it was presented directly to the grand jury without an arrest warrant. App. 378, ll. 6 – App. 380, ll. 20.

Attorney Poole testified that he was appointed to Lyles’ case in March 2009 and did not communicate with Lyles until November 2009 the Friday before trial on Monday. App. 415, ll. 1 – 8; App. 410, ll. 1 – 23. He took the discovery to Lyles on the Friday when he met with him. Attorney Poole left after they discussed the discovery and did not see Lyles again until the following

Monday morning just before trial. When Attorney Hodges was appointed to assist, she handled everything. Attorney Poole did not ask any questions during the trial. App. 411, ll. 1 – App. 413, ll. 15.

When asked if there were anything he would have done differently, Attorney Poole responded that he wished he had spent more time with Lyles. App. 418, ll. 1 – 15. The PCR judge asked him if he had done any type of independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. Attorney Poole responded that he looked at the discovery, but he did not go to the scene and did not talk to any state’s witnesses. App.419, ll. 23 – App. 420, ll. 3.

Attorney Hodges testified the trial judge gave her from Monday afternoon until Thursday morning to prepare for Lyles’ trial. She met with Lyles three times during that period. App. 420, ll. 14 – App. 422, ll. 13. She admitted that she probably had a chance to talk to witnesses but her opportunity was limited by her just trying to “pore through the discovery.” App. 425, ll. 14 – 25. she did not ask for a continuance even with the late notice of the kidnapping charge. App. 437, ll. 9 – 18.

The PCR judge stated at the hearing:

Let me just tell y’all, I haven’t read this transcript, I will---I am concerned as I believe counsel was that the , uh, that the first meeting between trial counsel and defendant took place two days before the trial. I just don’t know how you can meet the minimum standards and that’s what I’m asking at this point. I’m gonna ask for a brief from the parties. I know you don’t, you got, wanted to say grace over so I’ll give you plenty of time for it.

App. 438, ll. 3 – 11.

After the briefs were submitted, the PCR judge issued his order denying Lyles’ PCR application. The judge ruled that Lyles failed to establish that the outcome of his trial would have been any different if his trial attorneys had had more time to prepare or had taken different actions. Lyles offered no witnesses at his PCR hearing that should have been called. The judge did write:

By his own admission, Poole's late entry into the case, failure to independently investigate the case and failure to question witnesses is deficient.

App. 481.

The judge then ruled that although there was deficient conduct on behalf of counsel, there was no evidence of prejudice to Lyles. Lyles offered no witnesses nor testimony to show how additional preparation would have resulted in a different outcome. App. 481. the PCR judge further held that Lyles suffered no prejudice due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt. App. 482. The judge cited Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008) to show the minimum required. App. 438, ll. 13 – 17.

A criminal defendant is entitled to effective representation at trial and on direct appeal. Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d 572 (1991); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052(1984). In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove (1) that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) the deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant's case. Id., Gallman v. State, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992). Failure to investigate possible defenses constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Cobbs v. State, 305 S.C. 299, 408 S.E.2d 223 (1991). Counsel representing a criminal defendant has a duty to conduct a reasonable investigation, which encompasses the defendant's right to interview potential witnesses against him. State v. Sanders, 341 S.C. 386, 534 S.E.2d 696 (2000).

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper

measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

In Ard v. Catoe, the Supreme Court held that a criminal defense attorney has a duty to perform a reasonable investigation. "While the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. Id.

In Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008), the Supreme Court held that Lounds' counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately prepare for trial so as to be able to call key witnesses. The Court reversed the denial of Lounds PCR and remanded for a new trial.

In Lounds, the Supreme Court held that trial counsel had ample notice that the state was seeking LWOP; trial counsel learned the names of the defendant's witnesses on the morning of trial; trial counsel failed to interview or subpoena any of Lounds' witnesses prior to trial; and counsel met with Lounds only once on the morning of trial. The Court wrote that because the jury found Lounds not guilty on the armed robbery charge, the jury "necessarily rejected several aspects of Garrett's (state's witness), account, and accepted as true certain parts of petitioner's testimony."