STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000474

RECEIVED

MAR 18 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Noel Michael Lyles, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did Petitioner fail to meet his burden of proof of establishing that he suffered prejudice as a result of Counsel's deficiency or lack of time to prepare for trial, when there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted at the May 2009 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for armed robbery and kidnapping (09-GS-42-2199, count 1 and 2), assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (09-GS-42-2200) and grand larceny (09-GS-42-2201). He was represented by J. Roger Poole, Esquire and Kathleen J. Hodges, Esquire at trial. On November 9, 2009, the Petitioner proceeded to trial after which a jury found him guilty of armed robbery, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and grand larceny. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the kidnapping charge. He was sentenced by the Honorable J. Derham Cole to confinement for life without parole for armed robbery, a concurrent ten (10) years for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and a consecutive five (5) years for grand larceny.

A timely Notice of Appeal and Anders brief were filed on Petitioner's behalf. He was represented by Wanda H. Carter, Esquire on appeal. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal. State v. Lyles, Op. No. 2012-UP-190 (filed March 14, 2012). The Remittitur was submitted on March 30, 2012.

This matter comes before this court by way of an application for post-conviction relief filed on May 8, 2012. The Respondent filed its Return on April 17, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on June 26, 2013, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present and represented by Paul C. MacPhail, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, represented the Respondent, State of South Carolina.

At the hearing, the Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Kathleen Hodges, Esquire, and J. Roger Poole, Esquire, both testified on Respondent's behalf. This Court also had before it a

copy of the records of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court regarding the subject's convictions, Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, the Return, the Appellate Court records, the trial transcript, Petitioner's exhibits and memoranda provided by both parties.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. **Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that he suffered prejudice as a result of Counsel’s deficiency or lack of time to prepare for trial, when there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt.**

On November 13, 2009, following a trial by jury, Petitioner was found guilty of armed robbery, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and grand larceny over \$5,000. (App. p. 331-2). Petitioner was acquitted of the charge of kidnapping. (App. p. 331). At the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged he was prejudiced because Poole had not properly prepared or investigated the case and Hodges did not have enough time to prepare to represent Petitioner at trial. (App. p. 108; p. 131, lines 2-10).

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Both the Petitioner and Poole testified that Poole first met with the Petitioner the Friday before Petitioner's trial was set to begin the next Monday. (App. p. 366; App. p. 410). Petitioner had been arrested on the charges in March 2009 and the trial was to begin on November 9, 2009. Petitioner testified that he was not aware that he had an attorney until he received the notice that the State intended to seek life without parole in October and the trial was set for November. (App. p. 365-6). Petitioner testified that at the beginning of trial, Petitioner expressed concern over his lack of meetings with Poole and wanted another attorney to represent him. (App. p. 367, lines 9-15). Petitioner testified that Poole never made a motion for a continuance to have more time to prepare, never interviewed the witnesses from the car wash, never talked with the Solicitor's office about a possible plea bargain, and never subpoenaed the victim's medical records to either impeach the victim's alleged timeline nor to verify her medical condition. (App. p. 370, lines 7-15; p. 372, lines 6-8; p. 373, lines 13-16; p. 374, lines 1-6).

The Petitioner testified that although he tried desperately to relieve Poole, the trial court denied the Petitioner's request to relieve Poole and proceed *pro se*. (App. p. 375, lines 3-12; p. 376, lines 16-25). However, because of the apparent conflict between the Petitioner and Mr. Poole, the trial court recessed from Monday, November 9th, until Thursday, November 12th. During that time, the court also appointed Kathleen Hodges, at Petitioner's request, to assist in representing Petitioner at trial. (p. 377, lines 1-13). Petitioner acknowledged that he specifically requested Hodges during his discussions with the trial judge. (App. p. 17, lines 13-17; p. 399, lines 5-8).

On November 12th, Hodges indicated to the court that she was prepared to proceed with the trial, fully understood the legal issues in the case and the issues Petitioner had, and the only thing that more time would offer is the chance to be more concrete with the facts of the case. (App. p. 27, lines 6-15; p. 28-29). However, Mr. Poole was still present to assist Mrs. Hodges. (App. p. 28, lines 13-18).

At the PCR hearing, Poole testified that he had previously handled cases as serious as death penalty cases during a period of thirty-three years. (App. p. 410-411). Poole testified that although he did not meet with the Petitioner until the Friday before trial, he had prepared for trial. This preparation included reviewing all discovery materials, including the lengthy witness statements. Poole testified that he met with the Petitioner, reviewed the elements of each charge and discussed Petitioner's understanding of what each witness would offer. (App. p. 411, lines 17-25; p. 412, lines 1-10). Poole acknowledged that he did not conduct an independent investigation, did not visit the scene of the crime, and did not interview any witnesses. (App. p. 419, lines 12-25; p. 420, line 1).

Hodges also testified that she met with the Petitioner several times prior to trial and discussed concerns regarding identifications and publicity from a separate incident. (App. p. 421, lines 18-22; p. 422-424; p. 435, lines 14-25; p. 436, lines 1-2). Hodges also testified that she was not informed of any potential witnesses by Petitioner, but instead subpoenaed a witness on her own following review of the case file. (App. p. 426, lines 2-16). Hodges also testified that Poole was able to assist her during cross-examination by pointing out various inconsistencies in witness statements and testimony. (App. p. 432, lines 15-25). Hodges testified that she was prepared for trial and only believed that she could have possibly done additional research had she had more time to prepare. (App. p. 425, lines 16-24).

In this case, the Petitioner was accused of stealing a truck, assaulting a woman and stealing personal items while driving the stolen truck, and then being arrested in possession of the stolen truck and items. (App. p. 127, lines 18-21; p. 128, lines 11-25; p.129, lines 1-20; p. 130, lines 1-8). Petitioner was identified through a photo line-up by the two victims as the person who robbed each of them. (App. p. 162-3; p. 181-3). Additionally, the Petitioner was arrested driving the truck stolen from one of the victims, with items in the truck that belonged to the second victim. (App. p. 220-221). The two witnesses who saw Petitioner robbing and assaulting the second victim also identified Petitioner. (App. p. 206; 213). The second victim was able to recall the license tag number of the vehicle that was being driven by the man who attacked her. (App. p. 204, lines 7-14). Finally, the passenger in the stolen truck identified the Petitioner as the person in the truck who attempted to sell several rings to him. (App. p. 237-239). The jury found the Petitioner guilty of armed robbery, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and grand larceny over \$5,000. (App. p. 331). The jury acquitted Petitioner

of the kidnapping charge. (App. p. 331, lines 17-18). The deliberations took only approximately two hours. (App. p. 329, lines 15-20; p. 330, lines 3-11).

To establish counsel was inadequately prepared, a Petitioner must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses could have been pursued had counsel been more fully prepared. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (Petitioner is not entitled to relief where no evidence presented at PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial). Furthermore, the "brevity of time spent in consultation, without more, does not establish that counsel was ineffective." Easter v. Estelle, 609 F.2d 756, 759 (5th Cir. 1980). When claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are based on lack of preparation time, a Petitioner challenging his conviction must show specific prejudice resulting from counsel's alleged lack of time to prepare. United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984); U. S. v. LaRouche, 896 F.2d 815 (4th Cir. 1990).

After hearing the testimony and reviewing both parties' memoranda, the PCR court found that although there was deficient conduct on behalf of Poole, there was no evidence of prejudice to the Petitioner. The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to establish that had his attorneys taken different actions or had more time to prepare, the outcome of his trial would have been any different. (App. p. 481). The court found that Petitioner offered no witnesses that should have been called, defenses that could have been developed, or information that would have assisted at trial that either Counsel failed to obtain because of the lack of preparation time or investigation. (App. p. 481). All witnesses and their statements were known to his counsel prior to trial based upon the discovery responses from the State. The court found that the Petitioner failed to demonstrate how the information in the documents introduced as exhibits at

the hearing would have affected the outcome of the case. (App. p. 481). Additionally, the court found that based upon the overwhelming evidence of guilt, there was no prejudice to Petitioner as a result of any deficient representation. (App. p. 482).

Petitioner offered no witnesses or specific testimony to show how additional preparation would have resulted in a different outcome or that he would have had a defense if he had had additional time to prepare for trial. Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997). See Skeen v. State, 325S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997)(where PCR Petitioner fails to establish what evidence he could have procured had counsel moved for a continuance, he fails to establish how he was prejudiced by counsel's incomplete preparation); Kibler v. State, 267 S.C. 250, 227 S.E.2d 199 (1976)(Court will not speculate concerning what might have occurred if counsel had conducted further investigation).

"The burden of proof is on the Applicant in post-conviction proceedings to prove the allegations in his application." Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). This matter is distinguishable from Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 463, 670 S.E.2d 646, 651 (2008) – Counsel testified at Lounds' hearing that he only learned of defense witnesses that could have testified at trial, which had been never interviewed or subpoenaed. The court in Lounds found that, based upon the witness testimony, there is a reasonable likelihood the result of the trial would have been different on the kidnapping count. Id. In this matter, Petitioner failed to demonstrate that there were any witnesses or defenses that could have been presented and would have affected the outcome of his trial.

"[N]o prejudice occurs, despite trial counsel's deficient performance, where there is otherwise overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 566, 689

S.E.2d 629, 631 (2010) (citing Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 325, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009)).

Therefore, the lower court's decision should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.